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BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

The Board of Directors have the pleasure in submitting their report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of Gulf Medlcal Projects Company ('Company") snd its subsidisry (together referred to as the
.Group',) for the year ended 3l December 2024. These consolidated financial statements are prepared by
management. Management has taken responsibility for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting
Standards) and the applicable provision ofUAE Federal Law No. 32 of2021on Commercial Companies and the
Articles of Association of the Company and the Board of Directors have given clearance for issuance of these
consolidated financial statements on l2 February 2025.

Incorporrtlort

Gulf Medical Projects Company - Sharjah is a public shareholding company incorporated in Sharjah by an
Amiri Decree No.48/79 issued by His Higbness the Ruler of Sharjah on 2 August 1979

The Company is domiciled in Sharjah City and its registered address is P.O. Box 5385, Emirate of Sharjah,
United Arab Emirates.

P nclpal actlv les

The main activities ofthe Company and its subsidiary (together referred to as the "Group") are general hosPital,
telehealth services and home health care center, advanced fllst aid training center, hospitals manag¤ment and
establishment of medicine manufacturing factories.

Financlal rcsults

Total revenue of the Group for the year amounted to AED.677,337 thousand (2023: AED. 569,639 thousand)
and the Group generated a profit after tax ofAED. 100,050 thousand (2023: AED. 75,226 thousand).

Transactions with rchled partbs

The consolidated frnancial statements disclose related parties transactions and balances. All transactions are
carried out as part ofour normal course ofbusiness and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Boad of Dlrcclots

Sheikh Dr. Faisal Bin Khalid Khalid Al Qasimi
Mr. Salem Abdulla Salem Alhosani
Sheikh Majid Faisal l(haled Al Qassimi
Sheikha Noor Faisal Khalid Al Qasimi
Sheikh Mohammad Faisal Khalid Al Qassimi
Mr. Ahmad Mohammed Hassan AlHosani
Mr. Tareq Abdulhadi Munser A[Ajmi
Mr. Mohammed Salem Abdulla Salem Alhosani
Mr. Ahmed Salem Abdulla Salem Alhosani

Chairman
Vice -Chairman
Managing Director
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Proposed Appropiatlon ol Protlts and Board of Dlrcclor's Rernunerutlon

. In respect of the current year, the Board of Directon have proposed a cash dividend of 104,837,414 at
AED. 0.15 per share to be paid to shareholders in 2025.

. It has been also proposed that the Board ofDirectors remuneration for the year be AED' 7,000,000.

The above mentioned proposed dividends and board of directors' remuneration are subject to the approval ofthe
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Audilots

The consolidated financial statements for th ended 3l December 2024 were audited by Talal Abu-Ghazaleh
& Co. Intemational - Sharjah and they ind their willingness to continue as the auditor ofthe Group for
the year 2025. A resolution propos r re-

On behalf of the Board of D

Sheikh Dr. Fa
(Chrirman)

Khalid Khslid Al Qasimi

will be put at the annual general meeting.
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shereholders of
Gulf Medical Projects Company
Public Shareholding Company
United Arab Emirates

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gulf Medical Projects Company
(the "Company") and its subsidiary (the "Group'), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financiaf position as at 31 December 2024, consolidated statement of income and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3l December 2024, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's ReEponsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the 'Intemational Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the other ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit ofthe Group's consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is suflicient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgrnent, were of most significance in
our audit ofthe consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed
on the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a sepfiate opinion on these matters. We have determined the
matter described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Valuation of investment properties

The Group has investment properties amounting to AED. 104,181 thousand (Note 8) of the
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2024. The investment properties rcprcsent 7 .zyo
ofthe total assets as at 3l December 2024. The management ofthe Group determines the fair value of
the investment properties at each reporting date. The Group uses expert extemal valuers to determine
the fair value of the investment properties. The valuation of the investment properties are dependent
on estimates and assumptions.

Al Majaz 3, Al Ghanem Business Center
OIIice No. 301, 302
Tel.: +971 6 537 8800
Fax: +971 6 537 88ll
P.O.Box: 952 Sharjah. United Arab Emirates
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of
Gulf Medical Projects Company (Conlinued)

Key audit mattets (Continued)

Yaluation of investment properties (Continued)

We performed the following audit procedures :

r We have evaluated the competence, objectivity and independence of the valuers.

o We have assessed and challenged the appropriateness of the underlying data, methodologies and
assumptions used.

o We have assessed the Group's disclosure relating to investrnent properties and its fair value are in
compliant with the related Intemational Financial Reporting Standards.

Accotmls receivable and adequacy of provision for impairment loss

The Group has significant accounts receivable (Note 12) of AED 227,960 thousand as at
3l December 2024 before provision for impairment loss of accounts receivable of AED. 117,929
thousand which is significant to the Group as its represents approximately 15.8% of its total assets
and there is a risk over the recoverability of the overdue amounts. Due to the inherently judgmental
nature in the computation of the expected credit losses (ECL), there is a risk due to the material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as the determination of ECL involves
significant management judgment and estimate.

We performed the following audit procedures :

Performed test of control over accounts receivables processes to determine whether controls are
operating effectively throughout the year.

Requested direct confirmations from a sample of outstanding balances, performed altemate
procedures for non-replies, including verification of the supporting documents and subsequent
collections.

Reviewed the management assessment of recoverability of accounts receivable through detailed
analysis of ageing of receivables and also assessed the adequacy of provisions taken based on
Expected Credit Loss "ECL Model".

Inquired from the management about any past due accounts with no subsequent collections and
management's plan for recovering these receivables.

r Inquired about disputes, if any, with customers during the year and reviewed any uncollected
amounts to assess recoverability.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists ofthe information
included in the Board of Directors Report of 2024, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. We obtained the Board of Directors Report, at the date of our
auditor's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon,

a
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of
Gulf Medical Projects Company (Continued)

O t he r informat i o n (C ont inue d)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. Ii based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with govemance for the Consolidated Financial
Stateme ts

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting
Standards), and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of UAE Federal Law
No. 32 of 2021 and the Articles of Association of the Company and for such intemal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are fiee from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group;s ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concem and using the going concem basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic altemative but to do so.

Those charged with govemance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit ofthe Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue auditor's
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fiaud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis ofthese consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identifu and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or eror, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of intemal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness ofthe Group's intemal control.

-4-
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concem basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concem. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modiry our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance ofthe Group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with govemance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing ofthe audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identiry during our audit.

We also provide those charged with govemance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter should not be communicated in our report
betause thi adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by UAE Federal Law No.32 of2021we report that:

l. we have obtained all the information and explanation we considered necessary for our audit.

2. The consolidated financial statements are prepared and comply, in all material respect with the
applicable provisions ofUAE Federal Law No.32 of 2021.

3. The Group has maintained proper books of account.

5
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Shareholders of
Gulf Medical Projects Company (Continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (Continued)

4. The financial information of the Board of Directors report are in agreement with the books of
account and records ofthe Group.

5. Investment and shares purchased by the Group during the year ended 3l December 2024 arc
disclosed in Note 9.

6. Transactions and terms with related parties are disclosed in Note I l.

7. Based on the information and explanation that has been made available to us nothing came to our
attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended

3l December 2024 any of the appticable provisions of UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021 or the
Articles of Association of the Company which would have a material affect on the Group's
activities or on its financial position for the year.

8. The Social Conkibutions made during the year are disclosed in Note 27.

TALALABU & CO. INTERNATIONAL

Ali Musleh
Licensed Auditor No. I 130

Sharjah, 12 February 2025

-6-
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EXHIBIT A

t4
l5

l't

698,916
306,223

lE,441
145,763

I,169,t49
91,033

698.9r6
298.434

(19, r 63)
159,078

l,l0 ,1 ,265
68,870

AED'000'

695,122
735

7,353
l04,l8r
2s0,307

701,900
960

9,789
91,091

259,053

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property and equipment
lntangible assets
Right-of-use assets
lnvestment properties
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

Total Non-Current Assets

Currcnt Assets
lnventories
Due from a related party
lnvestments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Accounts receivable and others
Cash and bank balances

Total Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

20
l9
28

150,706
) )n\

5
6
7
8
9

1,058,298 1,062,793

18,0,17
l,832

36,567
t28,088
198,993

15, 160
) tal

39,406
t l't ,646
t22,785

3E3.527 29',7,190

1,441,825 1,i59.983

1,260,382 1.176.135

t8
l9
28

28,t02
4,420

923

?( nl7
5,870

33,4{5 3 0,89 7

138,317
1,500
8,18r

141,998 tsroSl
1,441,825 1,359,983

THE ACCOIIIPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL
PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the best of our knowledge, the financial information included in these consolidated financial statements
fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition, result of operation and cash flows of the Group
as of, and for, the periods presented therein.

These consolidated fin ial stat ents re approved for issue by the B irectors on
Fe 2 and signed on their behalfby

n Khalid Khalid Al Qasimi Sheikh Majid Faisal Khaled Al Qassimt
(Managing Director)

Sheikh Dr- F'

Chairman)
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 3I DECEMBER 2024

Note 2023
AED '000'

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Reserves
Cumulative change in fair value of investments measured at fair value

through other comprehensive income
Retained earnings

Net equity attributable to equity holders ofthe parent company
Non-controlling interest

Total Equity - Exhibit C
Non-Current Liabilities
Employees' end of service benefits
Lease liabilities
Defened tax liabilities

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and others
Lease liabilities
lncome tax provision

Total Current Liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITTES

l0
ll
9
t2
l3



GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2024 f,XHIBIT B

Note 2024
AED 'OOO'

677,337
(4e0,70s)

186,632

2023
AED'OOO'

569,639
(425,9s0)

t43,689

2,658
s,986

11 101
(99,201)

(le8)

7s.226

75,226

59.808
I 5,41 8

75,226

0.086

Revenues
Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Fair value (loss/gain of investments at FVTPL
Fair value gain of investment properties
Other income
General and administrative expenses
Finance cost on lease liabilities

Profit for the Year before t:rx - Exhibit D
Current income tax expenses
Deferred income tax

Attrihutrble To :
Equity holders ofthe parent company
Non-controlling interest

Total

Sheikh Dr. Fai

25

26
27

28
28

(2,83e)
13,090
29,548

(t17,t27)
(ls0)

109,154
(8,181)

(e23)

100,050

77,887
22,163

100,050

29 0.lll

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTECRAL
PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

alid Khalid Al Qasimi Sheikh Mal id Faisal Khaled Al Qassimi
Chairman) (Managing Director)

-8

Profit for the year

Basic earnings per share (AID)
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 3I DECEMBER 2024 EXHIBIT I}

CONTINUED

2024
AED'000'

2023
AED 'OO()'

Profit for the vear

Other comprehensive income :
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Gain on sale of investments at FVTOCI
lncrease in fair value of investments at FVTOCI

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year - Exhibit C

Attributable to :
Equity holders ofthe parent company
Non-controlling interest

Total

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL
PART OF THESE CONSO D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

100,050 75,226

4,231
55.240 49, 108

59,471 49, t08

159,521 t24,334

137,358
22,163

I 08,91 6
I 5,418

159.521 t24,334

Sheikh Dr. Faisal
(c airman)

id Khalid Al Qasimi Sheikh Majid Faisal Khaled Al Qassimi
(Managing Director)
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024                                                                                                                                                                                                                  EXHIBIT C                                                                                                                          
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
  

                              Attributable to equity holders of the parent company                            1 
  

        
      Cumulative change in   Non-  
   fair value of investments Retained  Controlling  
 Share capital Reserves measured FVTOCI earnings  .    Total    . .    interest    . .    Total    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' 

        
Balance at 1 January 2024  698,916 298,434 (49,163) 159,078 1,107,265 68,870 1,176,135 
        _______________ _____________ _______________ ______________ ________________              ____________ _______________ 

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 - Exhibit B -- -- -- 77,887 77,887 22,163 100,050 
        

Other comprehensive income -- -- 55,240 4,231 59,471 -- 59,471 
        _______________ _____________ _______________ ______________ ________________              ____________ _______________ 

Total comprehensive income -- -- 55,240 82,118 137,358 22,163 159,521 
        

Cash dividends - Note 16 -- -- -- (69,892) (69,892) -- (69,892) 
Board of directors remuneration - Note 16 -- -- -- (5,382) (5,382) -- (5,382) 
Transferred to statutory reserve -- 7,789 -- (7,789) -- -- -- 
Transfer of fair value reserve on disposal of 

investments of FVTOCI 
 

-- 
 

      -- 
 

      12,370 
 

(12,370) 
 

-- 
 

-- 
 

-- 
               ______________ _____________ _______________ ______________ _________________           ____________ _______________ 

Balance at 31 December 2024 - Exhibit A 698,916 306,223 18,447 145,763 1,169,349 91,033 1,260,382 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ========      ====== ======== 

 
 

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN  
INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024                                                                                                                                                                                                                      EXHIBIT C  

                         CONTINUED                                                                                                                            
_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
  

                              Attributable to equity holders of the parent company                            1 
  

        
      Cumulative change in   Non-  
   fair value of investments Retained  Controlling  
 Share capital Reserves measured FVTOCI earnings  .    Total    . .    interest    . .    Total    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' 

        
Balance at 1 January 2023 698,916 292,453 (98,271) 178,343 1,071,441 53,452 1,124,893 
        _______________ _____________ _______________ ______________ ________________              ____________ _______________ 

Profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 - Exhibit B -- -- -- 59,808 59,808 15,418 75,226 
        

Other comprehensive income -- -- 49,108 -- 49,108 -- 49,108 
        _______________ _____________ _______________ ______________ ________________              ____________ _______________ 

Total comprehensive income -- -- 49,108 59,808 108,916 15,418 124,334 
        

Cash dividends - Note 16 -- -- -- (69,892) (69,892) -- (69,892) 
Board of directors remuneration - Note 16 -- -- -- (3,200) (3,200) -- (3,200) 
Transferred to statutory reserve -- 5,981 -- (5,981) -- -- -- 
               ______________ _____________ _______________ ______________ _________________           ____________ _______________ 

Balance at 31 December 2023 - Exhibit A 698,916 298,434 (49,163) 159,078 1,107,265 68,870 1,176,135 
   ======= ======= ======= ======= ========      ====== ======== 
 
 

 
THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN  

INTEGRAL PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE 
 YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024                                                                                                  EXHIBIT D 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 .    2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED  '000' 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
   

Profit for the year before tax - Exhibit B 109,154 75,226 
Adjustments for:   
Depreciation of property and equipment 25,680 24,480 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,436 2,452 
Amortization of intangible assets 528 502 
Fair value loss/(gain) on revaluation of investments at FVTPL 2,839 (2,658) 
Dividends income (13,782) (11,278) 
Fair value gain on investment properties (13,090) (5,986) 
Loss from a related party 370 39 
Employees end of service benefits  5,296 5,815 
Provision for impairment loss of accounts receivable  30,467 22,492 
Finance cost – lease liabilities  150 198 
Loss/(gain) on sale of property and equipment 388 (151) 
Interest income (5,589) (2,719) 
 ___________________ ___________________ 

Operating cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities 144,847 108,412 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (2,887) 1,703 
(Increase)/decrease in due from a related party (9) 26 
Increase in accounts receivable and others (40,353) (31,093) 
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable and others (12,389) 13,400 
Settlements of employees end of service benefits  (2,221) (3,741) 
 ___________________ ___________________ 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 86,988 88,707 
 ___________________ ___________________ 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
   
Increase in fixed deposits  (102,113) (6,107) 
Interest income received 5,033 2,789 
Purchase of property and equipment (20,715) (15,420) 
Purchase of intangible assets (303) (175) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 825 152 
Proceeds from sale of investments at FVTOCI 68,217          -- 
Dividends received 13,782 11,278 
 ___________________ ___________________ 

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (35,274) (7,483) 
 ___________________ ___________________ 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
   
Repayments of lease liabilities (2,345) (3,646) 
Cash dividends paid (69,892) (69,892) 
Board of directors remuneration paid (5,382) (3,200) 
 ___________________ ___________________ 

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (77,619) (76,738) 
 ___________________ ___________________ 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (25,905) 4,486 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 48,857 44,371 
 ___________________ ___________________ 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of Year - Note 30 22,952 48,857 
   ========   ========= 
 

THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONSTITUTE AN INTEGRAL 
PART OF THESE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
1.    STATUS AND ACTIVITIES  
 

Gulf Medical Projects Company – Sharjah (hereinafter referred to as the “Company”) is a 
public shareholding company incorporated in Sharjah by an Amiri Decree No.48/79 issued by His 
Highness the Ruler of Sharjah on 2 August 1979. 
 
The main activities of the Company and its subsidiary (together referred to as the "Group") are 
general hospital, telehealth services and home health care center, advanced first aid training center, 
hospitals management and establishment of medicine manufacturing factories. 
 
The Group is domiciled in Sharjah City and its registered address is P.O. Box 5385, Sharjah, 
United Arab Emirates. 

  
2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS, INTERPRETATION AND AMENDMENTS 
 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of consolidated financial statements are 
consistent with those applied by the Group in the interpretation of the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 except for the adoption of the following new 
standards, interpretation and amendments. 

 
2.1  Standards, interpretations issued and effective for the current year 
 

The Group has adopted all the applicable new and revised standards and interpretations issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for 
the period beginning on 1 January 2024.  

 
  Amendments to IAS 1 - (Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-

current Liabilities with Covenants) 
 
Amendments to financial statements presentation clarifies the Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current based on the contractual arrangements in place at the reporting date. 

 
Classification is neither affected by entity’s expectation nor do events occur after financial 
report date. 

 
 Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 – ( Disclosures  Related to Supplier Finance Arrangements)  

 
Amendments ask entities to provide qualitative and quantitative information about supplier 
finance arrangements. 
 

 Amendments to IFRS 16 – (Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback) 
 
Amendments that clarify how a seller-lessee subsequently measures sale and 
leaseback transaction  

 
These amendments had no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS, INTERPRETATION AND AMENDMENTS 

(CONTINUED) 
 
2.2  Standards, interpretations issued and not yet effective and not early adopted  
 

 Effective date 
 Amendments to IAS 21  : Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025 
 Amendments to IFRS (7) and (9) : Amendments to the Classification and 

Measurement of Financial Instruments 
 
1 January 2026 

 IFRS 18: Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements 1 January 2027 
 IFRS 19: Subsidiaries without Public Accountability Disclosures 1 January 2027 
 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28  : Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
Indefinitely 
deferred 

 
If applicable, the Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations 
when they become effective. The management anticipates that the adoption of the above 
standards and interpretations in future periods will have no material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. 

 
3.     BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
3.1   Statement of compliance 
 
 The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and applicable requirements of the UAE 
Federal Law No. 32 of 2021 on Commercial Companies. 

 
3.2   Basis of measurement 
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
investment properties, land and investments in financial assets which has been measured on the 
basis of fair value/valuation.  

 
3.3  Functional and presentation currency  
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United Arab Emirates Dirham (AED), 
which is the Group’s Functional Currency. Amounts presented in AED in these consolidated 
financial statements are rounded to the nearest thousand. 
 

3.4  Use of estimates, assumptions and judgment 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting 
Standards requires management to make judgment, estimates and assumption that affect the 
application of policies and reported amount of assets and liabilities, income and expenses, other 
disclosures and disclosures of contingent liabilities.  

 
The Group based its assumptions, judgments and estimates on parameters available when the 
consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about 
future development, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising 
beyond the control of the Group. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Such changes are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements when they occur. 
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3.     BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
3.4  Use of estimates, assumptions and judgment (Continued) 

 
Estimates, judgments and underlying assumption are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any 
future period affected. 

 
 Estimates, assumptions and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on management 

historical experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under circumstance. 

 

 Estimates, assumptions and judgments with significant risk of material adjustment in the future 
year mainly comprise of the following: 

 

Fair value measurements 
Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting 
purposes. In estimating the fair value of an assets or liability, the Group use market observable 
data to the extent it is available. Where level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages 
qualified external values to perform the valuation. The management works closely with qualified 
external values to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. 
Information about the valuation techniques and its inputs used in determining the fair value of 
various assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes. 
 

 

Classification of investment 
Management designates at the time of initial recognition of investments in securities whether 
these should be classified as at FVTOCI or FVTPL. In judging whether investments in securities 
are as at FVTOCI or FVTPL, management has considered the detailed criteria for determination 
of such classification as set out in IFRS 9, and accordingly management is satisfied that its 
investment  in securities are appropriately classified. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
The Group’s management evaluate whether there are indicators that suggest non-financial assets 
have suffered impairment in accordance with accounting policies. The recoverable amount of an 
asset is determined based on the fair value less cost of disposal of the specific asset impaired. 

 
 Provision relating to contracts 
 The Group reviews all its arrangements on a regular basis to identify any arrangements where the 

unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contracts exceed the economic benefits 
expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under contract reflect the least net cost of 
exiting from the contract which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or 
penalties arising from failure to fulfill it. The Group estimates any such provision based on the 
facts and circumstances relevant to the contracts. 

 
 

Determining the lease terms 
 In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an 

economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. 
Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term if the 
lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). 

 
Useful lives of property and equipment  
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its properties and equipment 
for calculating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the current usage of the 
assets compared to full utilization capabilities of the assets and physical wear and tear. Group’s 
management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually. 
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3.      BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 

 
3.4  Use of estimates, assumptions and judgment (Continued) 
 
        Impairment loss on property and equipment   

The Group reviews its property and equipment to assess impairment, if there is an indication of 
impairment. In determining whether impairment losses should be reported in consolidated 
statement of income the Group makes judgments as to whether there is any observable data 
indication that there is a reduction in the carrying value of property and equipment. Accordingly, 
provision for impairment is made where there is an identified loss event or condition which, 
based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the carrying value of property and 
equipment. 
 
Impairment of inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. When inventories become slow-
moving or obsolete, an estimate is made of their net realizable value. For individually significant 
amounts this estimation is performed on an individually basis. Amounts which are not 
individually significant but which are slow moving or obsolete, are assessed collectively and 
provision is made according to inventories type and degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on 
historical selling prices. 

 
Leases estimating the incremental borrowing rate 
The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its 
incremental borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that 
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires 
estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the 
terms and conditions of the lease. The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as 
market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates. 

 
Provision for expected credit loss “ECL” 
When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, 
which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how 
these drivers will affect each other. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on 
default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the 
lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit 
enhancements. Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of 
default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon, the calculation of 
which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future conditions. Refer note 12 
for the provision for the loss allowance for the year. 

 
3.5   Basis of consolidation  
 

         These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the parent entity 
and entity controlled by the Company (its subsidiary). Control is achieved when : 

 
 The Group has power over the investee. 
  The Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the    

investee. 
 The Group has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

 
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control mentioned above. 
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3.      BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
3.5   Basis of consolidation (Continued) 
 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts circumstances whether it has power over an investee, including : 

 
 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee. 
 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements. 
 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights 

 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed during the year included in the consolidated statement of income from the date 
the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.  
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of 
the Group and to the non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-controlling interest 
having a deficit balance. 
 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of a subsidiary to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group accounting policies. 
 
All intragroup balances and income, equity and cash flows relating to transactions between entities 
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 
Changes in the Group ownership interests in a subsidiary that do not result in the Group losing 
control over a subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the 
Group interests and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interest are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly 
in equity and attributed to owners of the Group. 

 
The details of the subsidiary is as follows : 

 
 % of 

ownership 
 Country of 

                  Company Principal activities incorporation 
 2024 2023   

     
     

 
 
Al Zahra (Pvt.) Hospital Dubai (L.L.C) 

68.38 68.38 

General Hospital, home 
health care center and 
telehealth services and 
advanced first aid 
training center 

 
 

UAE 

 ==== =====   
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4.     MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION  
 

4.1    Property and equipment 
 

The property and equipment are carried at their cost/revaluation less any accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment. Cost includes purchase cost together with any 
incidental costs of acquisition. 
 
Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
 
The cost of day to day service of property and equipment is expensed as incurred. 
 
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use in the manner intended by 
management. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows : 

 
 Estimated useful lives 
 Years 
  

Hospital buildings  10 – 40 
Hospital furniture and equipment 1 – 10 
Motor vehicles 3 – 5 
Other furniture and equipment 1-5 

 
No depreciation is charged on land and capital work-in-progress. The depreciation charge for 
each period is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed and adjusted if 
appropriate at each reporting date.  An assets carrying amount is written down immediately to 
its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than estimated recoverable 
amount. 
 
Gain or loss arising on disposal of any item of property and equipment (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds, and the carrying amount of the assets) is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost on present property that is being constructed or 
developed for future use. When commission, Capital work-in-progress is transferred to the 
respective category and depreciated in accordance with the Group’s policy. 

 
4.2 Intangible assets 
  

Intangible assets represents the total amounts paid towards software and is carried at cost less 
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortization is calculated 
on straight line basis over a period of five to eight years from the date they are available for use. 

 
4.3 Current versus non-current classification 
  

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position 
based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is : 
 
 Expected to be realized or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; 
 Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
 Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting date or 
 Cash and cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability 

for at least twelve months after the reporting date. 
 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 
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4.       MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.3 Current versus non-current classification (Continued) 
  

A liability is current when : 
 

 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; 
 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 
 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting date. 
 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 
 
4.4    Leases 

 
The Group evaluates at the beginning of the lease agreement whether the contract is a lease 
agreement or includes a rental arrangement. If the contract is wholly or partially transferring the 
right to control the use of a specific asset from one party to another for a specific period of time 
in exchange for a specific compensation or allowance, then the Group recognizes the right to use 
the assets and lease obligations with the exception of short-term leases of one year or less and 
the leases for leased assets with low value.  For these leases, the Group recognizes lease 
payments as an operating expense on a straight line basis over the term of the lease, unless 
another systematic basis further presents the period of time in which the economic benefits from 
the leased assets are amortized. 

 
Group as a lessee 

 
Lease obligations 

 
Lease obligations are recognized and measured initially at the present value of lease payments 
that have not been paid on the commencement date of the lease contract, and those payments are 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the contract, and if it is not known, then the Group 
uses the incremental borrowing interest rate. 
 

Unpaid lease payments include: 
 

− Fixed lease payments less any lease incentives receivable. 
− Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, measured initially using the index or 

rate at the start date of the lease. 
− The amount the lessee is expected to pay the lessor when there is a residual value guaranteed 

in the lease agreement. 
− The price of exercising buying options, if the lessee is reasonably certain of exercising the 

options. 
− Termination fines, if the lease reflects the exercise of the option to terminate the lease. 

 
The lease liability is presented as a separate component of the Group's consolidated statement of 
financial position. 
 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect the 
interest on the lease obligation and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease 
payments paid. 
 

The Group re-measures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use assets) whenever: 

 

− The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances that lead 
to a change in the evaluation of the purchase option exercise, in which case the lease liability 
is re-measured by discounting the revised lease payments using the revised discount rate. 

 
 

-19- 
 



 
GULF MEDICAL PROJECTS COMPANY (PJSC) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
4.       MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.4    Leases (Continued) 

 
Group as a lessee (Continued) 

 
Lease obligations (Continued) 

 
− Rental payments change due to changes in an index or rate or change in expected payments 

under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the rental liabilities are re-measured by 
discounting the adjusted rental payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the rental 
payments change due to the change in the floating interest rate. In this case, the adjusted 
discount rate is used.) 
 

− The lease is amended and the lease amendment is not counted as a separate lease contract, in 
which case the lease liabilities are re-measured based on the modified lease term by 
discounting the modified lease payments using the modified discount rate at the date of 
modification. 

 
Right-of-use assets 

 
Right-of-use assets include the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 
payments made on or before the inception day, minus any lease incentives received and any 
initial direct costs subsequently measured minus accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. 
 
When the Group incurs a commitment to the costs of dismantling and removing a leased asset, 
restoring the site on which it is located, or restoring the asset to the required condition under the 
terms of the lease contract, the provision is recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 
(37) and to the extent that the costs relate to the right-of-use assets, the costs are included in 
related right-of-use assets, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the contract term or the useful life 
of the specified asset. 
 
If the lease contract transfers ownership of the underlying asset or right-of-use cost reflects that 
the entity expects to exercise the purchase option, then the related use value is depreciated over 
the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts on the date of commencement of the 
lease agreement. 
 
Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate component in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

 
The Group applies IAS (36) to determine whether the right to use value has decreased and 
calculates any impairment loss identified as described in the “property and equipment” policy. 
 
As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 allows a lessee not to separate the non-leased components, 
and instead any lease contract and associated non-lease components are counted as a single 
arrangement. The Group did not use this practical expedient. For contracts that contain a leasing 
component and one or more leasing or non-leasing components, the Group allocates 
consideration in the contract to each leasing component based on the independent relative price 
of the leasing component and the total sum of the single price of the non-leasing components. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 
4.4    Leases (Continued) 

 
The Group as Lessor 
 
Operating leases 
 
The rental income from the operating the lease is recognized on a consistent basis and evenly 
over the period of the related contract. The initial direct costs incurred by the entity when 
negotiating and preparing the contract are added to the value in which the leased asset appears 
in the consolidated statement of financial position, and they are recognized as expenses during 
the contract period in the same way that is adopted for lease income. Leased assets are 
depreciated under operating lease contracts, based on the same depreciation policies that the 
entity follows for similar assets. 

 
4.5   Investment properties 
 

Land and buildings owned by the Group for the purpose of generating rental income or for 
capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the 
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes are classified as 
investment properties. Investment properties are initially measured at cost includes expenditures 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment properties. 
 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains or losses arising from changes in fair 
value recognized in consolidated statement of income. 
 
Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the 
net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in consolidated 
statement of income when an investment property that was previously classified as property and 
equipment is sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to 
retained earnings. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed off or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment 
property are recognized in the consolidated statement of income within “Other operating income” 
in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
Transfers are made to investment properties when only there is a change in use evidenced by 
ending of owner-occupation on commencement of an operating lease of significant portion of the 
property to another party. Transfers are made from investment properties when and only when 
there is a change in use based on the business model.  
 

4.6   Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of 
an asset’s or cash generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Group’s assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.6   Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued) 

 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market 
transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples or other 
available fair value indicators. 

 
4.7 Financial Instruments 

  
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

 
Financial assets 

 
 Initial recognition and measurement 

 
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized 
cost (AC), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), and fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL). The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on 
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for 
managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable that do not contain a significant 
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group 
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at 
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do not contain a 
significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are 
measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15.  

 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value 
through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the 
SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 
 
The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash 
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

 
 Recognition and derecognition  

 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the 
date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

 
 Subsequent measurement 

 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:  
− Financial assets at amortized cost  
− Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) with recycling of 

cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)  
− Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) with 

no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments)  
− Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
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4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.7 Financial Instruments (Continued) 

  
Financial assets (Continued) 

 
 Subsequent measurement (Continued) 

 
As of reporting date, that the Group contracted with only the financial assets at amortized cost 
and financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) with 
no recycling at cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments) and 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).   

 
 Financial assets at amortized cost  

  
The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are 
met: 

 
− The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and, 
− The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 

are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  
 

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) 
method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when 
the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired. 

 
The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost includes accounts receivable and others,  cash 
and bank balances and due from a related party. 
 

 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income with no recycling of 
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (Equity instruments) 

 
The Group subsequently measures financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income at fair value and gains and losses on fair value changes are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to 
profit or loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognized in statement of 
income as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established, except 
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of cost of the instrument in 
which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity instruments at 
FVTOCI are not subject to impairment. 

 
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income. 
 
This category includes quoted equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected 
to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on quoted equity investments are recognized 
under investment and other income in the consolidated statement of income when the right of 
payment has been established. 
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4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.7 Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 

Financial assets (Continued) 
 

 Impairment of financial assets 
 

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments 
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the 
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. 
ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and ECLs are provided for credit 
losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month 
ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

 
For accounts receivable the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. 
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss 
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

 
In certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or 
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A 
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the 
contractual cash flows. 

 
Financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
arrangement provision of the instrument. 

 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Financial 
liabilities can be subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
with interest expense recognized on an effective yield basis, or at fair value through profit or 
loss. 

 
As of reporting date, that the Group contracted with only the financial liability at amortized cost.  

 
 Financial liabilities at amortized cost 

 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of 
the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

 
The Group’s financial liabilities at amortized cost includes accounts payable and others, lease 
liabilities. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
___________________________________________________________________________ 

 
4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 
4.7 Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 

Financial liabilities (Continued) 
 

 Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or they expire. When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing 
liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
 
Offsetting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position if there is currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and 
settle liabilities simultaneously. 

 
4.8   Revenue from contracts with customers balances  

 
Contract assets 
A contract asset is the right to the consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to 
the customer. If the Group performs by transferring the goods or service to the customer before 
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognized for the 
earned consideration that is conditional. 
 

Accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable are amount due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. The accounting policies of financial assets in financial instruments 
paragraph details the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of accounts receivable. 
 
Contract liabilities  
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a 
customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a 
contract liability is recognized when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is 
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the 
contract. 

 
4.9 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
For the purpose of preparing consolidated statement of cash flows (Exhibit D) Cash and cash 
equivalents comprise cash in hand and bank balances and fixed deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less from date of placement. 
 

4.10 Inventories 
 

Inventories are stated at lower of cost or net realizable value, cost is determined using the first-in 
first-out (FIFO) basis. Cost includes purchase cost, freight, insurance and other related expenses 
incurred in bringing the goods to their present condition and location. Net realizable value is 
based on the normal selling price, less cost expected to be incurred on disposal. Provision is 
made where necessary for obsolete, slow-moving and damaged items. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE  
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.11 Provisions 
 

Provisions are present obligations (legal or constructive) resulted from past events, the settlement 
of the obligations is probable and the amount of those obligations can be estimated reliably.  The 
amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the consolidated statement of financial position date. 

 
Provisions are reviewed and adjusted at each consolidated statement of financial position date.  If 
outflows, to settle the provisions, are no longer probable, reversal of the provision is recorded as 
income.  Provisions are only used for the purpose for which they were originally recognized.  

 
4.12 Employees’ end of service benefits  

 

Employees’ end of service benefits is calculated in accordance with U.A.E. Labour Law 
requirements. 
 

Retirement pension and social benefit scheme for the U.A.E citizens are made by the Group in 
accordance with Federal Law. 

 
4.13 Accounts payable  
 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end 
of the financial year which are unpaid and the amounts are unsecured. Trade and other payables 
are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting 
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. 

 
4.14 Borrowing costs  

 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
 
All other borrowing costs are recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the period 
which they are incurred. 

 
4.15 Revenue recognition 
  

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 
reduced for estimated customer returns and rebates. 

 
 Rendering of services 

 
Health care service revenues primarily comprise fees charged for inpatient and outpatient 
medical services. Services include charges for accommodation, theatre, medical professional 
services, equipment, laboratory and pharmaceutical items used. Revenue is recorded and 
recognized during the period in which medical service is provided based on the amounts due 
from the patient and/or medical funding entities. Fees are calculated and billed based on 
various tariffs agreed with insurers. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.15 Revenue recognition (Continued) 
  

 Sale of goods 
 

Revenue is recognized for the performance obligation when control over the 
corresponding goods representing drug and cosmetics is transferred to the customers. 
The timing of revenue recognition of this performance obligation is at point in time for 
sale of goods when the goods are delivered to the customers. 

 
 Dividend and interest revenue 

 Dividend revenue from investments is recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment has been established. 

 
  Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and 

at the effective interest rate applicable. 
  
 Rental income 

Rental income from investment properties is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease contract. 

 
4.16 Dividend distribution 
 

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognised as liability in the consolidated financial 
statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Shareholders. 

 
4.17 Taxes 
 
 Value added tax 

Expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except : 
 

 When VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, in which case, VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense items, as applicable. 

 When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
 
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 
Current income tax expenses 
Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount of income taxes payable 
(recoverable) in respect of the taxable income (tax loss) to the Federal Tax Authority for the 
year at the consolidated statement of financial position date. 
 
The tax rate used to compute the income tax is that enacted at the reporting date in the United 
Arab Emirates. 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is accounted for using  the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the full tax consequences of all temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements of 
the Group and their respective tax bases. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities shall be measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled. 
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4.     MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.18 Earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: 
 

 The profit attributable to shareholders of the Group, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares.  

 
 by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, 

adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding 
treasury shares if any. 

 
4.19    Foreign currencies 
 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to UAE Dirhams at the foreign exchange rates 
at the date of the transaction. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 
translated to UAE Dirhams at the spot foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. The foreign 
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between the amortized cost in UAE 
Dirhams at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the 
year, and the amortized cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the 
end of the year. 
 
Non monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated to UAE Dirhams at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is 
determined. Non monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the spot exchange rate the date of the transaction. 
 
Foreign currency differences arising on translation are generally recognized in consolidated 
statement of income. 

 
4.20 Contingent liabilities 
 

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations depending on whether some uncertain future 
events occur, or they are present obligations but payments are not probable or the amounts 
cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
4.21 Segment Information 
 
 For management purposes, the Group is organized into two operating segments based on their 

products and services. These segments are independently managed by respective segment 
managers who are reporting to the Group’s management. The Group regularly review the 
segment results in order to assess the segment performance. 

 
4.22  Fair value measurement 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
 

The fair value measurement assumes that the asset or liability is exchanged in an orderly 
transaction between market participants to sell the assets or transfer the liability at the 
measurement date under current market conditions. 
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
4.22  Fair value measurement (Continued) 
 

The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either : 

  

 In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

 

The Group must have access to the principal (or most advantageous) market at the  
 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act 
in their economic best interest. 

 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use  or by selling 
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient date are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 
 

A fair value hierarchy is established that categorizes into three levels the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value as follows : 

 

 Level 1 : Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or       
liabilities 

 

 Level 2 : Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

 

 Level 3 : Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
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YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

 _________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

a) The details of this item are as follows : 
  Hospital Hospital furniture Motor Other furniture  Capital work-  
 Land Buildings and equipment vehicles and equipment in-progress Total 
 AED '000' AED  '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' 

Cost /Revaluation :        
At 1 January 2023 250,482 576,808 139,743 4,759 16,747 496 989,035 
Additions -- 2,040 11,715 739 178 748 15,420 
Disposals -- (216) (326) (832) (102) -- (1,476) 
Transfer -- -- 496 -- -- (496) -- 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ________________ _________________ 

At 31 December 2023 250,482 578,632 151,628 4,666 16,823 748 1,002,979 
Additions -- 1,226 12,794 1,036 876 4,783 20,715 
Disposals --           -- (1,922) (739) (170) (162) (2,993) 
Transfer --     2,504          --  -- -- (2,504) -- 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ________________ _________________ 

Balance at 31 December 2024 250,482 582,362 162,500 4,963 17,529 2,865 1,020,701 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ________________ ________________ 

Accumulated Depreciation :        
At 1 January 2023 -- 144,121 114,862 3,871 15,220 -- 278,074 
Charged for the year  -- 15,933 7,478 312 757 -- 24,480 
Relating to disposals -- (216) (325) (832) (102) -- (1,475) 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ _______________ _______________ 

At 31 December 2023 -- 159,838 122,015 3,351 15,875 -- 301,079 
Charged for the year  -- 16,102 8,607 346 625 -- 25,680 
Relating to disposals --           -- (1,474) (139) (167) -- (1,780) 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ________________ _______________ 

Balance at 31 December 2024 -- 175,940 129,148 3,558 16,333 -- 324,979 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ ________________ _______________ 

Net Book Value :        
At 31 December 2024 - Exhibit A 250,482 406,422 33,352 1,405 1,196 2,865 695,722 
 ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ========= ======== 
At 31 December 2023 - Exhibit A 250,482 418,794 29,613 1,315 948 748 701,900 
 ======== ======== ======== ======== ======== ========= ======== 
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5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
  

b) Land of AED. 250,482 thousand mentioned above represents the fair value of a plot of land at 
the date of acquisition measuring 350,000 square feet registered with the concerned 
government department in the name of the subsidiary.  

c) Capital work-in-progress of AED. 2,865 thousand mentioned above represent the costs 
incurred for the heat pumps and accessories at the hospital buildings in the Emirate of Dubai. 

d) Depreciation for the year is allocated to cost of revenues and general and administrative 
expenses amounting to AED. 25,314 thousand  (2023 : AED. 24,123 thousand) and AED. 366 
thousand (2023 : AED. 357 thousand) respectively. 

 

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
 

a) This item consists of the following : 
 Software 
 AED '000' 
Cost :  
At January 2023  3,457 
Additions 175 
 _________________ 

Balance at 31 December 2023  3,632 
Additions 303 
 _________________ 

Balance at 31 December 2024 3,935 
 _________________ 

Accumulated Amortization :  
At 1 January 2023 2,170 
Charged for the year 502 
 ______________ 

At 31 December 2023  2,672 
Charged for the year 528 
 _________________ 

Balance at 31 December 2024  3,200 
 _________________ 

Net book value :  
At 31 December 2024 - Exhibit A 735 
 ====== 
At 31 December 2023 - Exhibit A 960 
 ====== 

 

b) Amortization for the year is allocated to cost of revenues and general and administrative 
expenses amounting to AED. 527 thousand (2023 : AED. 501 thousand) and 1 thousand 
(2023 : AED. 1 thousand) respectively. 

 

7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 
 
 The movement of right-of-use assets are summarized as follows : 

 .    2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
Cost :   
At 1 January  9,789 10,534 
Addition during the year          -- 1,707 
Charged for the year (2,436) (2,452) 

 _______________ _______________ 

Net book value at 31 December  – Exhibit A 7,353 9,789 
 ====== ====== 
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8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 

a) This item consists of the following : 
 .    2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   

Land  76,311 63,695 
Commercial properties 17,618 17,424 
Residential properties 10,252 9,972 
 ______________ ______________ 

Fair value at 31 December – Exhibit A 104,181 91,091 
 ====== ====== 

b) The details of movement in investment properties during the year are as follows: 
 

 .    2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   

Fair value at 1 January 91,091 85,105 
Increase in fair value 13,090 5,986 
 ______________ ______________ 

Fair Value at 31 December  104,181 91,091 
 ====== ====== 

 
Investment properties represent investments in land and real estates in the United Arab 
Emirates. 

 
c) The details of investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy is as 

follows: 
 

31 December 2024 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' 
     

Land  -- -- 76,311 76,311 
Commercial properties -- -- 17,618 17,618 
Residential properties -- -- 10,252 10,252 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 

Total Fair Value  -- -- 104,181 104,181 
 ====== ====== ====== ====== 

 

31 December 2023 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' 
     

Land  -- -- 63,695 63,695 
Commercial properties -- -- 17,424 17,424 
Residential properties -- -- 9,972 9,972 
 ______________ ______________ ______________ ______________ 

Total Fair Value  -- -- 91,091 91,091 
 ====== ====== ====== ====== 

 

Valuation process 
 

The Group’s investment properties were valued as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 
2023 by expert external valuers. 

 
Valuation techniques underlying estimation of fair value  

 

 The fair value of the land was determined based on the sales comparable approach. 
 

 The fair value of the commercial and residential properties were determined based on the 
direct comparison approach. 
 

 There has been no change to the valuation technique during the year. 
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9. INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS  
 
 Investments in financial assets comprise of the following : 

 
a) Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 
 

This item consists of the following : 
 .    2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   

Fair value at 1 January 259,053 209,945 
Sales during the year (68,217) -- 
Gain on sale investments at FVTOCI 4,231 -- 
Increase in fair value 55,240 49,108 
 ______________                 _______________ 

Fair Value at 31 December - Exhibit A 250,307 259,053 
 ====== ====== 

 
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income represent investments in 
securities quoted in the local financial markets.  

 
b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

 
       This item consists of the following : 

 .    2024   .       .    2023    . 
 AED '000'     AED '000' 
   

Fair value at 1 January 39,406 36,748 
(Decrease)/increase in fair value  (2,839) 2,658 
                 _______________                 _______________ 

Fair Value at 31 December - Exhibit A 36,567 39,406 
 ======  ====== 

 

Investments at fair value through profit or loss represent investments in securities quoted in 
local and regional financial markets. 

 
10. INVENTORIES 
  
         This item consists of the following : 

   .     2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   

Goods for sale (drugs and cosmetics) 9,851 7,893 
General stores and hospital supplies 8,786 7,857 
Provision for slow-moving items  (590) (590) 
                 _______________                 _______________ 

Net Amount - Exhibit A 18,047 15,160 
 ======   ====== 

 
11. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various transactions with related parties. 
Related parties represent major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of the 
Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. The 
prices and terms of these transactions are agreed with the Group’s management. 
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11. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 Due from a related party 
 

This item represents the amount due from Gulf Medical Commercial Agencies (LLC) – 
Sharjah. As per the management contract, the Group is managed and financed by the Group in 
return for the yearly profit/(loss) generated by the Company which has been included in the 
consolidated statement of income of the Company. The details of the movement in this 
account during the year are as follows : 
 

   .    2024     .        .    2023    . 
 AED ‘000’     AED ‘000’ 
   

Balance at 1 January 2,193 2,258 
Net funds received/(paid) during the year 9 (26) 
Loss for the year transferred – Note 26 (370) (39) 
        _____________ _____________ 

Balance at 31 December – Exhibit A 1,832 2,193 
 =====  ===== 

 

 The following are the details of significant related parties transactions : 
 

 .    2024    .     .    2023    . 
 AED ‘000’   AED ‘000’ 
   

Purchase 716 1,168 
Expenses  530 538 

 

 The remuneration , salaries and other benefits of Board of Directors and other members of 
key management during the year are as follows : 
 

  .    2024     .      .    2023    . 
 AED '000'   AED '000' 
   

Key management salaries and other related benefits 9,774 8,580 
Board of directors remuneration 
   (as approved by the Annual General Meeting) 

 
5,382 

 
3,200 

Board committee expenses 248 213 
 
12. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHERS 
 

a) This item consists of the following : 
 .    2024    .          2023    . 
 AED '000'   AED '000' 
   

Accounts receivable 227,960 199,873 
Provision for impairment loss of accounts receivable 
          – Note 12(b) 

 
(117,929) 

 
(92,840) 

 __________________ __________________ 
Net Amount 110,031 107,033 
   

Prepayments and other receivables – Note 12(c) 14,925 9,359 
Recoverable tax (VAT) 2,536 822 
Post-dated cheques received 596 432 
        _________________ ________________ 
Total - Exhibit A 128,088 117,646 
 ======= ====== 
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12. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHERS (CONTINUED) 
 

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit 
quality and defines credit limits for customer. 
 

A provision has been made for the estimated impairment loss of accounts receivable based on 
assumption about risk default and expected loss rate. 
 

The Group uses judgment in making the estimates and assumption for calculation of 
impairment loss based on management past history, existing market conditions, including 
expectation of future events. 

 

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumption made during 
the current reporting period in assessing the provision for impairment loss of accounts 
receivable. 
 

The following table details the risk profile of accounts receivables based on the Group’s 
provision matrix. 

31 December 2024 0-90 days 91-180 days 181-365 days 
Above  

365 days Total 
   AED '000'   AED '000'   AED '000'   AED '000'   AED '000' 

      

Gross carrying amount 55,699 35,135 33,689 103,437 227,960 
Expected credit loss rate 13.82% 23.59% 43.36% 84.43% 51.73% 
Loss allowance 7,698 8,289 14,608 87,334 117,929 

 

31 December 2023 0-90 days 91-180 days 181-365 days 
Above  

365 days Total 
   AED ‘000’   AED ‘000’   AED ‘000’   AED ‘000’   AED ‘000’ 

      

Gross carrying amount 53,891 16,895 15,176 113,911 199,873 
Expected credit loss rate 15.12% 20.65% 37.86% 66.24% 46.45% 
Loss allowance 8,147 3,488 5,746 75,459 92,840 

 

b) The movement in provision for impairment loss of accounts receivable during the year are 
as follows : 
 .    2024    .          2023    . 
 AED ‘000’   AED ‘000’ 
   

Balance at 1 January 92,840 105,057 
Additions to provision 30,467 22,492 
Write off during the year (5,378) (34,709) 
 _______________ _______________ 
Balance at the end of the year – Note 12(a) 117,929 92,840 
 ======= ======= 

 

c) Prepayments and other receivable 
 

This item consists of the following : 
 .    2024    .          2023    . 
 AED ‘000’   AED ‘000’ 
   

Prepaid expenses 5,090 4,663 
Refundable deposits 1,215 1,215 
Interest receivable 947 391 
Staff receivables 342 170 
Margin held with banks 999 1,019 
Advances paid 1,507 1,736 
Due from brokerage companies 4,823 160 
Others 2 5 
 _______________ _______________ 
Total – Note 12(a) 14,925 9,359 
 ======= ======= 
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13. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 
  

a) This item consists of the following : 
         2024   ˌ         2023  ˌ 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
   

Cash in hand 224 248 
Bank balances – Current and call deposit accounts  22,728 48,609 
Fixed deposits – Note 13 (b) 176,041 73,928 
 _____________ ______________ 

Total – Exhibit A 198,993 122,785 
 ====== ======= 

 

b)  Fixed deposits carry profit/interest at prevailing market rates. Fixed deposits of                        
AED. 176,041 thousand (2023: AED. 73,928 thousand) mentioned above include fixed 
deposits AED. 2,194 thousand (2023: AED. 2,116 thousand) held under lien by local banks 
against credit facilities granted to the Group.   

 
14. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 .     2024    .   .     2023    .    
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
   

Authorized share capital is 698,916,094 ordinary share   
of AED. 1 each fully paid – Exhibit A 698,916 698,916 
 ======= ======= 

 
15. RESERVES 
 

a) Statutory reserve 
 

10% of the yearly profit shall be deducted and retained in statutory reserve account, the 
deduction will be stopped when the reserve reaches 50% of the Company’s paid-up capital 
and if the statutory reserve decreases from that percentage again will be back to deduction. 

 
b) Optional reserve 

The optional reserve of AED 6,041 thousand mentioned below represents total amounts 
annually transferred at a rate of 10% of the profits generated in the previous years, in 
accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company at that time, the Company has 
resolved to discontinue the annual transfer to this reserve in accordance with a decision 
from Ordinary General Assembly Meeting. As per the article 60 of the Articles of 
Association the optional reserve may be used for the benefits and interest of the Group 
based on Board of Director’s resolution. 

 

c) The details of movements in the reserves during the year are as follows : 
 

 Statutory Optional Revaluation  
 .  reserve  . .  reserve  . .  reserve  .     Total  ˌ 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
     

Balance at 1 January 2023 284,489 6,041 1,923 292,453 
Additions for the year 5,981 -- -- 5,981 
 ________________ ______________ __________________ _________________ 

Balance at 31 December 2023-Exhibit A 290,470 6,041 1,923 298,434 
Additions for the year 7,789 -- -- 7,789 
 ________________ ______________ __________________ _________________ 

Balance at 31 December 2024- Exhibit A 298,259 6,041 1,923 306,223 
 ====== ===== ======  ===== 
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16.  PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF PROFITS AND BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION 
 

 The Shareholders in their Annual General Meeting held on 7 March 2024 approved a cash 
dividend of AED. 69,891,609 at AED. 0.10 per share and the Board of Directors remuneration 
of AED. 5,382 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2023. 

 In respect of the current year, the Board of Directors have proposed a cash dividend of  
AED.104,837,414 at AED. 0.15 per share to be paid to shareholders in 2025. 

 

It has been also proposed that the Board of Directors remuneration for the year be                          
AED. 7,000 thousand. 
 

The above mentioned proposed dividends and board of directors remuneration are subject to the 
approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and have not been included in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

17.   NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST  
 

a)  The details of the movement in this item during the year are as follows :  
 .     _ 2024    .       .     2023      . 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
   

Balance at 1 January 68,870 53,452 
Share of profit for the year 22,163 15,418 
 ____________ ____________ 

Balance at 31 December – Exhibit A 91,033 68,870 
 ====== ====== 

 

b) Non-controlling interest mentioned above represents the share of non-controlling as at the 
consolidated statement of financial position date and are as follows: 

 2024 2023 
 % % 
   

Share in Al Zahra (Pvt) Hospital Dubai (L.L.C) 31.62 31.62 
 ====== ====== 

18. EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS  
 

The details of movement in this item during the year are as follows: 
 .     _ 2024    .        .     2023       . 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
   

Balance at 1 January 25,027 22,953 
Current service cost 5,296 5,815 
Settlements (2,221) (3,741) 
 ____________ ____________ 
Balance at 31 December – Exhibit A 28,102 25,027 
 ====== ====== 

 

19. LEASE LIABILITIES 
 

Lease liabilities represent the long term lease of staff accommodation and robotics surgical 
systems up to the year 2029. The details of movement in this item during the year are as follows: 

 

 .      _ 2024    .         2023    . 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
   

Balance at 1 January  8,115 9,856 
Additions during the year         -- 1,707 
Interest on lease liabilities 150 198 
Payments during the year (2,345) (3,646) 
 _________________ _______________ 

Balance at 31 December 5,920 8,115 
 ======= ======= 
   

Non-Current – Exhibit A 4,420 5,870 
Current – Exhibit A 1,500 2,245 
 _________________ _______________ 

Total 5,920 8,115 
 ======= ======= 
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20. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHERS 
 
          This item consists of the following : 

 
   .     2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
   
Accounts payable 58,378 56,356 
Uncollected portion of repayments to shareholders 1,070 1,070 
Post –dated cheques issued 7,059 14,167 
Accrued expenses 11,514 7,834 
Provision for staff leave salaries and air passage 15,750 12,928 
Income received in advance 2,727 908 
Staff payables 161 359 
Shareholder’s dividend payable – Kuwait nationals      -- 6,346 
Other payables  41,658  50,738 

 ____________ ____________ 

Total – Exhibit A 138,317 150,706 
 ====== ====== 

 
21.     SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

The Board of Directors are chief operating decision makers for the Group. Management 
determine the operation segments based on segments identified for the purpose of allocation of 
resources and assessing performance. 

 
The Group’s reportable segments are organized into two major segments as follows : 

 
i) Health services and others Principally providing health, medical care and other related 

services. 
ii) Investments Principally concerned with Investment properties and 

investment in securities. 
 
  Performance of each segment is measured based on segment profit as management believes that 

profit is the most relevant factor in evaluating the results of segment. 
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21.   SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

The financial analysis according to the business segments are as follows : 
 

 
             Health Services & others                                          Investments                                                                    Total                                                .  
 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
Revenue :       
Total revenue 677,337 569,639 31,160 23,326 708,497 592,965 
   =========   ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
Result :       
Segment result 186,632 143,689 30,876 23,103 217,508 166,792 
       
Unallocated general and  
   administrative expenses 

     
(117,277) 

 
(99,399) 

     ______________ ______________ 
Operating profit     100,231 67,393 
Other income 8,923 7,833 -- -- 8,923 7,833 
     ______________ ______________ 
Profit from operation before tax     109,154 -- 
Current income tax expenses     (8,181) -- 
Deferred income tax     (923) -- 
     ______________ ______________ 
Profit from operation      100,050 75,226 
Attributable to non-controlling interest      (22,163) (15,418) 
     ______________ ______________ 
Profit for the year     77,887 59,808 
     ========= ========= 
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21.    SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 

 
         Health Services & others                           Investments                                                         Total                    .  
 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 
 AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' AED '000' 
Other information :       
       
Segment assets 882,495 885,647 559,330 474,336 1,441,825 1,359,983 
     ======== ======== 
Segment liabilities 175,147 173,278 6,296 10,570 181,443 183,848 
      ========  ======== 
       
Capital expenditure 21,018 15,595 -- -- 21,018 15,595 
     ======== ======== 
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22.   FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities. 
 

Financial assets consist of cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and others, due from a 
related party, investments at FVTPL and investments at FVTOCI. Financial liabilities consist of 
accounts payables and others, lease liabilities, deferred tax liabilities. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments carried at amortized cost 
 
Management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recognised at amortized cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair 
values. 

 
Valuation techniques and assumptions applied for the purposes of measuring fair value 

 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined using similar valuation 
techniques and assumptions as used in the audited consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. 

 
Th Group uses external valuers with market knowledge, reputation and independence for 
evaluation of investment properties. 

 
For quoted equity investments, fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a 
similar investment or is based on the expected discounted future cash flows. 
 

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on recurring 
basis. 
 

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of reporting period. 
The following tables gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are 
determined : 
 

 
______Fair value as at_____ Fair 

Valuation 
techniques Significant 

Relationship of 
unobservable 

 
    Financial assets 

31 December 
2024 

31 December 
2023 

value 
hierarchy 

and key 
inputs 

unobservable 
input 

input to fair 
value 

 AED’000 AED’000     
       
Investments at fair 
value through other 
comprehensive 
income (FVTOCI) 

250,307 259,053 Level 1 Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

None NA 

       

Investments at fair 
value through 
profit/loss (FVTPL) 

36,567 39,406 Level 1 Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

None NA 

       

 
There is no transfer between each of level during the year. There are no financial liabilities 
which should be measured at fair value and accordingly no disclosure is made on the above 
table. 
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23.    RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

Risk is inherited in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. 
Operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in the business. 
 
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks included : capital risk, market risk 
(including foreign currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  It is also subject 
to operational risk.  
 
The Group seeks to minimize the effects of these risks through internal reports which analyze 
the risk to achieve its risk management function and monitor risks and reviews policies 
implemented to mitigate risk exposures. 

 
23.1     Capital risk management 
 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, return of capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell 
assets. 

 
23.2    Market risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices,  such as foreign exchange rates and 
equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments, The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk. 

 
a) Foreign currency risk 

 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rate. 
 
The Group’s activities are not exposed to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates because substantially all the financial assets and liabilities are denominated 
in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (AED) or US Dollars to which the AED is pegged. 

 
 

b)  Price risk of shares 
 

Price risk of shares is the risk that the value of shares fluctuates as a result of changes in 
market prices. The Group is exposed to market price risk with respect to its investments in 
quoted marketable securities. The Group limits market price risks by maintaining a 
diversified portfolio and by continuous actively monitoring of the key factors that effect 
stock and market movements including analysis of operational and financial performance 
of investees. 

 
Sensitivity analysis 
 

At the reporting date if the equity prices of the quoted investments held at FVTPL and 
FVTOCI are 10% higher/lower as per the assumptions mentioned below and all the other 
variables were held constant the results for the year in the Group’s consolidated statement 
of income and consolidated statement of other comprehensive income would have 
increased/decreased by AED 3,657 thousand (2023: AED. 3,941 thousand) and                        
AED. 25,031 thousand (2023: AED 25,905 thousand) respectively. 
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
23.2    Market risk (continued) 
 

b)  Price risk of shares (Continued) 
 

Sensitivity analysis (Continued) 
 
Method and assumptions for sensitivity analysis 

 
 The sensitivity analysis has been done based on the exposure to equity price risk as at 

the reporting date. 
 

 As at the reporting date if equity prices are 10% higher/lower on the market value 
uniformly for all equities while all other variables are held constant, the impact on 
consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income has been shown 
above. 

 

 A 10% change in equity prices has been used to give a realistic assessment as a plausible 
event. 

 
23.3  Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group, if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from cash flows from 
financial assets recorded at amortized cost such as cash and bank balances, accounts receivable 
and amount due from a related party. 
 
The Group trade with recognized, creditworthy parties. The Group’s policy that all customers 
are analyzed for creditworthiness on credit terms and are subject to monitor the receivable 
balances of customers on an  ongoing basis, that receivable balances are the maximum exposure 
to credit risk relating accounts receivable. 

 
The Group applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure expected credit loss (ECL) by 
grouped all financial assets based on shared credit risk characteristics and days past due (Note 
12). 

 
The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of that business transaction and the 
corresponding historical credit loss experienced within this period. 

 
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and future information on macro 
economic factors affecting the abilities of the customers to settle their receivable balances. With 
respect to credit risk arising from other financial assets such as cash and bank balances 
including deposits arising from default of counter party to limit that credit risk.  
 
The Group’s cash is placed with banks of repute. Management is confident that it does not 
result in any credit risk to the Group as the banks are major banks operating in UAE. 

                                                        
23.4  Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities at maturity date. 
 
The Group monitors its risk to shortage of funds using a cash flow model. This tool considers 
the maturity of financial assets and projected cash flows from operation and capital projects. 
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23.     RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
23.4      Liquidity risk (Continued) 
 

The details of maturity dates of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are as 
follows :  

 
As at 31 December 2024 :  

 Less than From 3 months   
 three months to one year 1-5 years Total 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
Financial Assets     
Cash and bank balances 22,952 176,041 -- 198,993 
Accounts receivable and others 103,196 18,295 -- 121,491 
Investments at fair value through  
  profit or loss (FVTPL) 

 
36,567 

 
-- 

 
-- 

 
36,567 

Due from a related party -- 1,832 -- 1,832 
Investment at fair value through     
  other comprehensive income   
  (FVTOCI) 

 
-- 

 
-- 

 
250,307 

 
250,307 

 __________________ ____________________ _________________ _________________ 

Total 162,715 196,168 250,307 609,190 
 =========== ============ ========== ========== 

Financial Liabilities     
Lease liabilities 750 750 4,420 5,920 
Accounts payable and others 56,558 79,032 -- 135,590 
Income tax provision -- 8,181 -- 8,181 
Deferred tax liabilities -- -- 923 923 
 __________________ ____________________ _________________ _________________ 

Total 57,308 87,963 5,343 150,614 
 =========== ============ ========== ========== 

 
 
               As at 31 December 2023 : 

 Less than From 3 months   
 three months to one year 1-5 years Total 
 AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ AED ‘000’ 
Financial Assets     
Cash and bank balances 48,857 73,928 -- 122,785 
Accounts receivable and others 99,073 12,174 -- 111,247 
Investments at fair value through  
  profit or loss (FVTPL) 

 
39,406 

 
-- 

 
-- 

 
39,406 

Due from a related party -- 2,193 -- 2,193 
Investment at fair value through     
  other comprehensive income   
  (FVTOCI) 

 
-- 

 
-- 

 
259,053 

 
259,053 

 __________________ ____________________ _________________ _________________ 

Total 187,336 88,295 259,053 534,684 
 =========== ============ ========== ========== 

Financial Liabilities     
Lease liabilities 213 2,032 5,870 8,115 
Accounts payable and others 62,485 87,313 -- 149,798 
 __________________ ____________________ _________________ _________________ 

Total 62,698 89,345 5,870 157,913 
 =========== ============ ========== ========== 
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24. REVENUES 
 

a) This item consists of the following : 
 

 2024 2023 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   
Revenue from contracts with customers - Exhibit B 677,337 569,639 
 ========  ======= 

 
 b) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 
 

    Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers. 
 

 2024 2023 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
Segments   
   

Type of services   
   
Revenue from healthcare services 677,337 569,639 
 =======  ======= 
Geographical markets   
   
Revenue within UAE 677,337 569,639 
 =======  ======= 
Timing of revenue recognition   
   
Services and goods transferred at a point in time 677,337 569,639 
  =======  ======= 

 
 c) Performance obligations 
 
  Information about the Group’s performance obligations are summarized below : 
 
  Rendering of services 
 

 Health care services revenues primarily comprise fees charged for inpatient and outpatient 
medical services. Services include charges for accommodation, theatre, medical professional 
services, equipment, laboratory and pharmaceutical items used and recorded at the time of 
billing. 

 
Sale of goods 
 
Revenue from sale of goods represent the total revenue from sale of drug and cosmetics 
provided to customers and is recognized when control and benefits are transferred and billed. 
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25. COSTS OF REVENUES 
 

This item consists of the following : 
 .    2024    .        2023    . 
 AED ‘000’  AED ‘000’ 
   

Salaries and other related benefits 289,987  250,974  
Supplies and services  172,441  147,900  
Depreciation of property and equipment 25,314  24,123 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 2,436  2,452  
Amortization of intangible assets 527  501  
 __________________ ________________ 

Total – Exhibit B 490,705 425,950 
  =======  ======= 

 
26.   OTHER INCOME 
  

 a) This item consists of the following : 
 .    2024    .        2023    . 
 AED ‘000’  AED ‘000’ 
   

   
Dividends received 13,782 11,278 
Interest income 5,589 2,719 
Rental income - Note 26(b) 2,956 1,859 
(Loss)/gain on sale of property and equipment (388) 151 
Loss from a related party – Note 11 (370) (39) 
Miscellaneous income 7,979 6,324 
 _________________ ________________ 

Net Amount - Exhibit B 29,548 22,292 
 ======= ====== 

 
b)     Rental income 

 
       This item consists of the following : 

 .    2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000'  AED '000' 
   
Rental Income 3,240 2,082 
Rental costs (284) (223) 
 ________________ ______________ 

Net amount - Note 26 (a) 2,956 1,859 
  =======  ======= 
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27. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
 
          This item consists of the following : 

   .     2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   
Staff salaries and other related benefits 54,934 47,452 
Provision for impairment loss of accounts receivable  30,467 22,492 
Electricity and water 7,477 7,278 
Advertising and publicity  4,906 2,228 
Government expenses 6,340 6,757 
Telephone and postage 769 806 
Social  contributions  1,000 1,000 
Legal charges and professional fees 3,313 3,478 
Insurance 1,500 1,508 
Bank and credit card charges  2,049 1,807 
Depreciation of property and equipment 366 357 
Amortization of intangible assets 1 1 
Miscellaneous expenses 4,005 4,037 
 __________________ _________________ 

Total - Exhibit B 117,127 99,201 
  ========  ======= 

 
28.   INCOME TAX EXPENSES 

 
Corporate Tax Law 
 
On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 
2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses, Corporate Tax Law (“CT Law”) to enact 
a Federal corporate tax regime in the UAE. Furthermore, a Cabinet Decision was published 
which specifies that taxable income not exceeding AED. 375,000 would be subject to a 0% UAE 
CT rate and taxable income exceeding AED. 375,000 would be subject to the 9% UAE CT rate.  
 
As the Group’s accounting year ends on 31 December, accordingly the effective implementation 
date for the Group will start from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024. 
 
Current Income Tax 
 
The main components of income tax expenses in the consolidated income statement for the year 
are as follows : 

 
 .    2024    .    

 AED '000' 
  

Accounting profit for the year before tax 109,154  
Add : Non-deductible expense for tax purpose  2,296 
Less : Fair value accounting and assets adjustments (net) (6,020) 
Less : Exempt income    (13,780) 

 
 ___________________  

Net taxable income      91,650  
 

 __________________  
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28.   INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
 
 

 
 .    2024    .    

 AED '000' 
Tax due:  
Net taxable income not exceeding AED. 375,000 *                   --    
Net taxable income exceeding  AED. 375,000        8,181 

 
 ___________  

Income tax expenses- Exhibit B        8,181 

  ======  
Income tax provision – Exhibit A        8,181   

 ====== 

  * As per the United Arab Emirates Corporate Tax law, maximum standard deduction applicable 
for each tax group is AED 375,000. The standard deduction applicable for the two tax groups 
considered by the Group amounts to AED 750,000 on which tax rate at 0%. 

 
Tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounting to AED. 8,181 thousand                             
(31 December 2023 : AED. Nil) and the effective current income tax rate 7.49%. 
 
Deferred Tax 

 

 
 .    2024    .    

 AED '000' 
Deferred income tax – Exhibit B 923 
 ===== 
Deferred tax liabilities – Exhibit A 923 
 ===== 
 
The deferred tax liabilities mentioned above of AED 923 thousand (2023: AED Nil), as determined 
by the Group’s management assessment, arising from temporary differences of AED 10,251 
thousand (2023: AED Nil) related to the fair value changes in assets measured at fair value as of the 
consolidated statement of financial position date. 

 
For the purpose of determining income tax expense for the year, the accounting profit has been 
adjusted for tax purposes. Adjustments for tax purposes include items relating to both income and 
expense. The adjustments are based on the current understanding of the existing tax laws. 
Regulations and practices. The Group has not identified any material risks or uncertainties in the 
structure from a corporate tax perspective and will continuously monitor further development that 
could impact the tax profile of the Group. 
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29. BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

This item consists of the following : 
   .     2024       .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders    
   of the parent company (AED ‘000) 77,887 59,808 
  ========== =========== 
Weighted average number of shares (share ‘000) 698,916 698,916 
  ========== =========== 
Basic Earnings per share (AED) – Exhibit B  0.111 0.086 
  ========== =========== 

 

30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

At 31 December 2024 and 2023 “cash and cash equivalents” included in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows (Exhibit D) comprise the following items : 
  .    2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   

Cash in hand 224 248 
Bank balances - Current and call deposit accounts  22,728 48,609 
 ______________ ________________ 

Total - Exhibit D 22,952 48,857 
 ====== ======= 

 
31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/COMMITMENTS 
 

i) Contingent liabilities 
 

Contingent liabilities of the Group as at the consolidated statement of financial 
position date amounted to AED. 999 thousand (2023: AED. 1,019 thousand) 
representing Letters of Guarantees issued. 

 
ii) Commitments 

 
Commitments of the Group as at the consolidated statement of financial position date 
are as follows : 
 .    2024    .    .    2023    . 
 AED '000' AED '000' 
   
Capital purchases 15,832 9,355 
 ======== ======= 

 
32. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 
 
         Certain comparatives have been reclassified/regrouped to make them comparable to 

those of current year.  
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